PERQUIMANS MONTHLY MEETING
(now Piney Woods Monthly Meeting)

Perquimens County, North Carolina

Sorth Carolina Quakerism had its beginning, toward the end of the seventeenth century, in
.~¢ Precincts of Perquimans and Pasquotank. A full account of this beginning 1is given by Dr.
itepren B. Weeks in chapters III and IV of "Southern Quakers and Slavery."

Tre eariiest existing recovds of a monthly meeting in Perquimans County begin with 1680.

I~ trat year Christopher Nicholson and Ann Atwood were married in a meeting held at the house of
rarcis Toms. Witnesses to this marriage included Charles Prows, William Bundy, Jonu. Phelps,
Josepn Scott, John Peirces, James Hogg, Henry Prows, Jumes Hill, Francis Toms, Henry Wnite, Han-
nar. EL11, Mary Peirce, Dorothy Prows, Ann Prows and Priscile Toms. In the following year Henry
T.t.e and Dameris Morison were left at liberty to proceed in marriage by"a monthly meeting held
st ke house of Henry Prows in Little River." In 1683 William Bundy and Mary Peirce published
:-elr intention of marriage at a quarterly meeting held at the house of Christophier Nicholson.
Irey were married 15th of 10th month at the house of Mary Pelrce. Witnesses included Jno. Thus-
seme{?), Christo. Nicholson, Willlam Bundy, Hannah Phelps, Ann Wilson, John Johnson, Joseph
S22tt, Mary Bundy, Hannah Hill, Mary Scott, Ann Nicholson, Jno. Nicholscn, Jona. Phelps, Jushua
S:9:¢ ard Robert Wilson. On the 19th of 8th month, 1687, John Belman and Saret. Wilson wvere
zrrled at the house of Jona. Phelps. Witnesses included Hannal Hill, Hunnel Phelps, Johennah
Jensins, Elizsebeth White, Robert Beasley, Isaac Wilson, Jona. Phelps, Ann Wilson, Robert Wilson
s Willlam Bundy. Five or six other marriuges which are recorded were accomplished prior to
"0, Prilor to 1680, most of the meetings appear to have been held at the houses of Jonathan
Prelps and Christopher Nicholson. Between 1680 and 1700 they were more frequently held at the
ncuse of Pruncis Toms. Dr. Weeks ("Southern Quakers and Slavery," page 47) concludes that in
.")C :here were two monthly meetings and & quarterly meeting in Perquimens County. One of the
=:r:hly meetings, he says, was held at the house of Francis Toms, the other at the house of Jona-
wrac Prelps. In 1688 it was agreed by the quarterly meeting that the lesat seventh day of 7th
=sntt in every year should be yearly meeting at the house of Francis Toms, the elder. In 1717
week day meetings were directed to be held at the houses of Timothy Clure and Samuel Nickolson.
Tre T"pper Meeting House and the Lower Meeting House are mentioned as places of worship as euarly
a8 2720, In 1725 a first day meeting was ordered established on the S8outhwest side of the Per-
jilzars River, to be held alternately at the houses of Gabriel Newby and Thomas Pearce.

7re existing minutes of Perquimans Monthly Meetlng (except those relating to marriages as
seferred to above) begin with 1706 in a book discovered in an abandored house in Perquimens Coun-
ty ir 1936. This book contains minutes from 1706 to 1736. Besides the minutes, which mostly
celate %o marriages, the book contains records of births and deaths and of marriage certificates.

Preparative meetings and meetings for worship mentioned in the minutes between 173€ and 1770
&5 te!ng subordinate to Perquimans Monthly Meeting include Piney Woods, Suttons Creek, Vosses
lreex, Wells, 01d Neck and Tar River. The latter meeting was set off with Rich Square Monthly
Yeezirg {n 1760 and transferred to Contentnea Monthly Meeting in 1782.

Prior to 1764 the meeting is usually designated, in its own minutes, as "« umontnly meeting
relé at Perquimens" or "in Perquimans County." From 12th month, 1764, to 8th month, 1794, it 1is
"s 2ontinly meeting held at Wells in Perquimans County." In the minutes of other meetings it 1s
usually referred to by the name of Perquimans; occasionelly &s Wells Monthly Meeting during the
period “rom 1764 to 1794, In the latter part of 1794 it was agreed to divide the monthly meet-
ing§. A new one was established at Suttons Creeik and the 0ld one moved to Piney Woods wiere it
t4-k on +he name of Piney Woods Monthly Meeting.

About the end of the eighteenth century there began & great migration to tne Middle Vest
*.teh reduced the strength of ell the meetings in North Carolina. Many meetings were so deplet-
ed 9f their memberthip that they were laid down. Piney Woods suffered heavily during the flist
reave of the nineteenth century and, to a lesser degree, in later years. It has, however, U:en
:*le 20 withstund the drain and rem&ins as the sole survivor of the montily meetings in Per:.!
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